V.

NO. 2008-KA-1348-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS

Hunter N Aikens,

Hunter N Aikens, 301 North Lamar Street, Suite 210

Jackson, Mississippi 39201

Telephone: 601-576-4200

Counsel for Fonshanta Anthony

V.

NO. 2008-KA-1348-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of this court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

- 1. State of Mississippi
- 2. Fonshanta Anthony, Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR BY ADMITTING EXHIBIT S-12, WHICH CONTAINED INADMISSIBLE HEARSAY EVIDENCE THAT PREJUDICED ANTHONY'S CASE.
- II. THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT AS A MATTER OF LAW TO SUSTAIN ANTHONY'S CONVICTION OF FELONY CHILD ABUSE, AS REASONABLE HYPOTHESES CONSISTENT WITH HER INNOCENCE COULD NOT BE EXCLUDED.
- III. THE VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE, AND ANTHONY WAS GUILTY, AT MOST, OF FELONY CHILD NEGLECT.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Marshall County, Mississippi, wherein Fonshanta Anthony (Anthony) was charged under a two-count indictment for (1) felony child abuse under Mississippi Code Annotated section 97-5-39(2) and (2) the lesser offense of felony child neglect under Mississippi Code Annotated section 97-5-39(1)(b). (C.P. 1-2). Following a jury trial held on August 20-22, 2007, the Honorable Andrew K. Howorth, Circuit Judge, presiding Anthony

81-82, R.E. 7-8). Anthony is presently incarcerated and now appears to this court for reserving

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Anthony lived at the Broadmoor Apartment complex in Byhalia, Mississippi, with her two children, nine-month-old B.A.¹ and two-year-old Jarvarious. On the night of July 18, 2005, B.A. was badly burned in a bathtub at Anthony's apartment. On a previous occasion, Anthony complained to the apartment complex manager that the water in her apartment was too hot. (Tr. 283). After police investigation, Anthony was charged with felony child abuse and the lesser offense of felony child neglect. The evidence adduced at trial revealed the following.

On the night of July 18, 2005, Anthony ran bath water for B.A. and Jarvarious, and she placed Jarvarious in the bathtub. (Tr 165, 172, Ex. S-6). Anthony then took her garbage outside to the dumpster. (Tr. 165, 173, Ex. S-6). Three witnesses saw Anthony take her garbage out: (1) Cassandra Watkins, a neighbor; (2) Shelia Lawrence, the property manager of the Broadmoor Apartment complex; and (3) Robert Jones, a maintenance employee of the Broadmoor Apartment complex. (Tr. 137-38, 143, 279-280). According to these witnesses, Anthony took her trash out sometime between 9:05 p.m. and 9:15 p.m. (Id.).

When Anthony returned to her apartment, she placed B.A. in the tub and went to the bedroom to lay out clothes for the children after their bath. (Tr 165, 172, Ex. S-6). While in the bedroom, Anthony heard the water turn on in the bathroom, and she yelled at Jarvarious to turn the water off. (Id.). However, the water kept running. (Tr. 173). Anthony then heard Jarvarious cry out, "mama, mama, [B.A.] boo booed in the tub." (Id.). Anthony ran to the bathroom, saw pieces of B.A.'s skin floating in the tub, and pulled him out of the water. (Id.). She then ran next door to

to whether Jarvarious was in the tub of our or the tub when a manage and

Watkins testified that Anthony beat on her door and asked her to "dial 911 for my baby." (Tr. 136). Watkins asked Anthony what happened, and Anthony said that "[Jarvarious] had turned the hot water on her baby." (Id.). Watkins then ran down to Anthony's aunt's apartment (also in the Broadmoor Complex) to get Anthony's dad. (Id.). In route, Watkins saw Cleveland Clark and told him what happened. (Tr. 139).

Clark then told Lawrence, the property manager, that a baby had been burned.³ (Tr. 145, 148). Lawrence and Clark then went to Anthony's apartment and found Anthony with B.A. in her arms, crying and rubbing B.A. (Tr. 144, 148). Lawrence, a certified nursing assistant, told Anthony to stop rubbing B.A. because it was making the injuries worse. (Tr. 144). Lawrence took B.A. and placed him on a sheet until the paramedics arrived. (Tr. 144). From the record it appears that Lawrence took B.A. to Anthony's aunt's apartment, where B.A. stayed until medical personnel and police arrived. (Tr. 120, 144).⁴

² This is significant because, as explained in the argument below, this was a circumstantial evidence case, and a reasonable theory of the case was that Jarvarious turned the hot water on and either climbed out of the tub before turning the water on or immediately after as the water temperature escalated but before it reached a temperature sufficient to cause burning.

³ On direct examination, Lawrence initially stated that the police came and told her that a baby had been burned. (Tr. 143). However, Lawrence corrected this misstatement after reading her statement that was given to police on the night in question; Lawrence testified twice that Clark came and told her about the incident. (Tr. 145, 148, Ex. 4 id).

⁴ B.A. was at Anthony's aunt's apartment when police arrived, and Lawrence testified that, when she took B.A. from Anthony, Lawrence "told her to cover me and not let anyone get close to me because [Anthony's] aunt is a certified nursing assistant and so am I, so we got the baby on a sheet " (Tr. 120 144)

the 711 can, which was made influes carrier at 7.25 p.

David Taylor was the first police officer to arrive; he arrived at the same time as the medical personnel. (Tr. 119). Officer Taylor was advised that B.A. was at the aunt's house, so he went there. (Tr. 120). Anthony was standing just outside the apartment (a few feet from the door) with her uncle. (Tr. 99, 120). As paramedics tended to B.A. in the ambulance, Anthony was crying, and trying to get back to see B.A., but her uncle wouldn't let her. (Tr. 110, 126, 134). B.A. was transported to Le Bonheur Hospital in Memphis. (Tr. 109).

Officer Taylor and Officer's Cris Sowell and Clyde Gunter (who had since arrived) entered Anthony's apartment and found pieces of B.A.'s skin in the bathtub; there was no water in the tub. (Tr. 105-108, 127, 160, Ex. S-2A-H). The officers also discovered that the hot water heater in Anthony's apartment was set at approximately 160 degrees. (Tr. 109, 127, Ex. S-2(I)). When Officer Gunter exited Anthony's apartment, he saw her outside crying in the arms of her uncle. (Tr. 110). Anthony made the statement "I would never do anything to deliberately hurt my child." (Tr. 110). Robert Jones, a maintenance employee of the Broadmoor Apartment complex testified that, prior to the incident at issue, Anthony had complained to Lawrence about the water temperature in her apartment unit. (Tr. 283).

Officer Sowell went to Le Bonheur Hospital and took a statement from Anthony at 2:00 a.m. on July 19, 2005. (Tr. 162-65). In her statement, Anthony recounted that she ran the bath water, placed Jarvarious in the tub, and went outside to throw away the trash. (Tr. 165, Ex. S-6). When she returned, she put B.A. in the tub and went to the bedroom to lay out the children's clothes. (Id.). She heard the water turn on in the bathroom and yelled at Jarvarious to turn it off. (Id.). Jarvarious then yelled "mama, mama, B.A. boo booed in the tub." (Id.). Anthony then ran to the bathroom,

ıu.).

After the incident, Patricia Amosike of the Marshall County DHS Office spoke with Anthony and received an account of the incident. (Tr. 172). In this statement, Anthony described the incident just as she did in her statement to police. (Tr. 172-73, compare, Ex. S-6). On June 19, 2005, Amosike examined Jarvarious and noticed no injuries on his body. (Tr. 174). Again, it is significant that the record does not reveal whether Jarvarious was in the tub or out of the tub when Anthony entered. And it is reasonable to conclude that Jarvarious was not in the tub, as he was not burned.

B.A. was transferred from Le Bonheur Hospital to Shriners Burns Hospital in Galveston, Texas, where he was treated by Dr. Art Sanford. (Tr. 197-98, Ex. S-9). At trial, the State tendered (and the court accepted) Dr. Sanford as an expert in the field of "general surgery including burn injuries and pediatric burns and related fields." (Tr. 196). Dr. Sanford testified that, as a result of the incident, B.A. had third degree burns on approximately sixty percent (60%) of his body. (Tr. 208). He stated that such burns could happen very rapidly ("in seconds") in water above 130 degrees. (Tr. 202, 249, 253). Based on the pattern of B.A.'s burn injuries, Dr, Sanford opined that B.A.'s injuries were caused by a forced immersion. (Tr. 237-240, 245). He claimed that, at the time B.A. was burned, he was leaning forward in a sitting position with his legs out in front of him and his hands in the water. (Tr. 238-240). Dr. Sanford also stated that "there would have to be force (from either the side or behind) pushing his chest, his torso forward." (Tr. 240).

In reaching his opinion that the injuries were intentionally caused, Dr. Sanford found significant that B.A.'s burn injuries were marked by straight clear lines of demarcation, with the absence of splash marks. (Tr. 210, 238, Ex. S-17(A)-(R)). To this end, Dr. Sanford stated that he would expect a child to be "thrashing" or "flailing" when exposed to the pain caused by hot water.

neglect. (C.P. 71-76). After deliberation, the jury found Anthony guilty of felony child abuse. (C.P. 80, Tr. 313, R.E. 6). The trial court sentenced Anthony to serve a term of twenty years. (C.P. 80-81, Tr. 314, R.E. 7-8). The trial denied Anthony's motion for a new trial. (C.P. 83, 88, R.E. 11).

The jury was instructed as to retorn order abuse and and

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in admitting into evidence exhibit S-12, the abuse report, during Dr. Sanford's direct examination. The abuse report itself was hearsay, and it was replete with inadmissible hearsay evidence (hearsay within hearsay) which severely prejudiced Anthony's defense. Additionally, the introduction of the abuse report violated Anthony's Sixth Amendment right to Confrontation. Therefore, Anthony is entitled to a new trial.

The evidence was insufficient to sustain Anthony's conviction for felony child abuse. Significantly, this case was a circumstantial evidence case. Accordingly, the State had to prove that Anthony was guilty beyond a reasonable doubt and to the exclusion of every reasonable hypothesis consistent with her innocence. As explained in more detail in the argument below, the evidence did not exclude the conclusion that Jarvarious caused B.A.'s injuries, and such a conclusion was reasonable under the evidence adduced at trial. Consequently, this Court should reverse Anthony's conviction for felony child abuse and render a judgment of acquittal on that charge.

Should this Court find the evidence sufficient to support Anthony's conviction for felony child abuse, Anthony contends that the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, Accordingly, Anthony respectfully requests that this Court reverse her conviction and sentence for felony child abuse and remand this case for a new trial on felony child neglect.

most, of felony child neglect, incretore, Anthony requests that, one -----------

trial is not warranted, that this case be remanded for re-sentencing for felony child neglect.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING EXHIBIT S-12, WHICH CONTAINED INADMISSIBLE HEARSAY EVIDENCE THAT PREJUDICED ANTHONY'S CASE.

At trial, the State called Dr. Art Sanford to give his expert medical opinion that B.A.'s injuries were consistent with a forced immersion which indicates that the injuries were caused intentionally. During Dr. Sanford's direct examination, the State sought to introduce a four-page document entitled "ABUSE/NEGLECT RISK FACTOR ASSESSMENT" ("abuse report") as exhibit S-12. (Tr. 202-04, Ex. S-12).⁵ According to Dr. Sanford, psychologists at Shriners hospital prepare abuse reports as a measure in the way of compliance with Texas law requiring physicians (or any adult) to report suspicious injuries evincing abuse. (Tr. 202-03). The abuse report was prepared by Dr. Laura Rosenberg, a psychologist employed at Shriners Hospital; significantly, Dr. Rosenberg did not testify at trial. (Tr. 203-04, Ex. S-12).

When the State offered the abuse report into evidence, defense counsel immediately objected that it was hearsay. (Tr. 204). However, the trial court overruled the objection, and admitted the

⁵ To briefly summarize, the abuse report begins with a purported statement/report of the incident apparently prepared by Dr. Rosenberg after speaking with Anthony. (Tr. 203-04, Ex. S-12). Next, the abuse report contains a note of Dr. Rosenberg stating in part: "This case was concerning due to the child's age, level of supervision provided, and the nature of the injuries." (Ex. S-12). The remainder of the abuse report consists the following individual categorical headings: (1) "Forced-Immersion Demarcation," (2) "Injury Demarcation, Other," (3) "History of Injury," (4) "Caregiver-Patient Relations," and (5) "Family." (Id.). Each categorical heading is followed by "subcategories" that were apparently checked if deemed relevant to the respective heading in the instant case. (Id.).

trial court's basis for admitting the abuse report is altogether unclear.

The State then meticulously examined Dr. Sanford on every aspect of the abuse report. (Tr. 204-06, 210-18). In fact, the State went so far as to project the abuse report onto a screen for the jury to follow along with Dr. Sanford's direct examination. (Tr. 210). As explained in the argument below, the abuse report was inadmissible hearsay, the introduction of which severely prejudiced Anthony's case. Furthermore, the abuse report contained statements that were testimonial in nature. Therefore, the admission of the abuse report violated Anthony's Sixth Amendment Right to confrontation.

The trial court's decision to admit or exclude evidence is reviewed under the abuse of discretion standard of review. *Smith v. State*, 986 So. 2d 290, 295 (¶12) (Miss. 2008) (citing *Jones v. State*, 962 So. 2d 1263, 1268 (¶21) (Miss. 2007)).

A. The "Abuse Report" Itself was Hearsay and Contained Hearsay Within Hearsay.

Mississippi Rule of Evidence 801(c) defines hearsay as "a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted." M.R.E. 801(c). Rule 801(a) provides that "[a] 'statement' is ... an oral or written assertion." M.R.E. 801(a)(1).

The abuse report was prepared by Dr. Rosenberg, who did not testify at trial. The abuse report contained numerous written statements/assertions of Dr. Rosenberg. Specifically, the most damaging hearsay statements of Dr. Rosenberg consisted of the following:

(1) a purported statement/report of the incident given by Anthony and prepared by Dr. Rosenberg after speaking with her; this statement contained facts not present in Anthony's other statements that were properly put before the jury, i.e., the statement

- (2) a note stating that "[t]his case was concerning due to the child's age, level of supervision provided, and the nature of the injuries," (Tr. 203-04, Ex. S-12), and
- (3) a statement (hearsay within hearsay) that indicated that Anthony gave differing versions of the incident to different persons that identified those alleged differences.⁶ (Tr. 203-04, Ex. S-12).

At trial, Dr. Sanford read the entire abuse report and the document was admitted as an exhibit. Because no one with personal knowledge of these statements (Dr. Rosenberg or otherwise) was present at trial, the abuse report lacked a sufficient foundation for admittance into evidence. Consequently, the abuse report was itself hearsay and contained hearsay within hearsay.

B. The Abuse Report was not admissible under Mississippi Rule of Evidence 703.

At the core of this issue is Mississippi Rule of Evidence 703 and, to a lesser extent, Rule 702. Rule 702 governs the admissibility of expert opinion testimony and the requisite qualifications to give an expert opinion. M.R.E. 702. Under Rule 702, a prerequisite to the admissibility of expert

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training or education may testify thereto in the form of an opinion

⁶ According to the abuse report, these statements (of Anthony) were derived from the following sources: (1) the report given to Dr. Rosenberg (contained in the abuse report), (2) a report given to Shriners Hospital staff, (3) a report given to staff at Le Bohneur Hospital. (Id.).

Incredibly, the alleged statement Anthony gave to the Shriners (source 2) appears nowhere in the record aside from Dr. Rosenberg's note. According to Dr. Rosenberg's note in the abuse report, Anthony told someone at Shriners that a fourteen year-old relative was watching the children in the bathroom at the time of the incident. (Ex. S-12). No witness with personal knowledge was present at trial to provide a proper foundation for the statement's admission. This statement was hearsay within hearsay within hearsay! Because this statement provided a version of events inconsistent with Anthony's other statements (which were consistent), Anthony's credibility and, thereby, her defense were severely prejudiced.

⁷ Rule 702 provides as follows:

The permissible sources of the facts of data forming the outside for the expert a spinion may

addressed in Rule 703, which provides:

The facts or data in the particular case upon which an expert bases an opinion or inference may be those perceived by or made known to him at or before the hearing. If of a type reasonably relied upon by experts in the particular field in forming opinions or inferences upon the subject, the facts or data need not be admissible in evidence.

M.R.E. 703. Thus, Rule 703 permits an expert opinion testimony even if the expert relied in part on inadmissible facts or data, provided that the facts or data are of a type reasonably relied on by experts in the field.

However, while Rule 703 does not render an expert's opinion inadmissible because the expert relied on inadmissible sources in forming the opinion, the rule does not permit the wholesale admission into evidence of the inadmissible facts or data upon which the expert relies. See generally, M.R.E. 703 cmt ("Most of [a physician's underlying facts or data] are admissible in evidence, but only with the expenditure of substantial time in producing and examining various authenticating witnesses.") (emphasis added).

To this end precisely, this Court has explained: "While Mississippi Rule of Evidence 703 allows an expert to use certain other sources in forming his or her own opinion, Rule 703 is not a vehicle for admissibility of otherwise inadmissible evidence." *Koestler v. Koestler*, 976 So. 2d 372, 381 (¶32) (Miss. Ct. App. 2008). Additionally, the Mississippi Supreme Court has held that it is error for an expert to refer to hearsay statements contained in the report of another non-testifying

or otherwise, if (1) the testimony is based upon sufficient facts or data, (2) the testimony is the product of reliable principles and methods, and (3) the witness has applied the principles and methods reliably to the facts of the case.

not give the witness the right to circumvent the rules of hearsay by giving statements which corroborate his view.") (citing U.S. v. Grev Bear, 883 F.2d 1382,1392-93 (8th Cir.1989)).

("While an expert witness may rely on information winds to machinesis in a con-

These decisions are consistent with Federal Rule of Evidence 703, which was amended in 2000 to emphasize that the inadmissible facts of data on which an expert relies are not admissible into evidence by virtue of the expert's reliance on them. In this regard, FRE 703, as amended, reads as follows:

The facts or data in the particular case upon which an expert bases an opinion or inference may be those perceived by or made known to the expert at or before the hearing. If of a type reasonably relied upon by experts in the particular field in forming opinions or inferences upon the subject, the facts or data need not be admissible in evidence in order for the opinion or inference to be admitted. Facts or data that are otherwise inadmissible shall not be disclosed to the jury by the proponent of the opinion or inference unless the court determines that their probative value in assisting the jury to evaluate the expert's opinion substantially outweighs their prejudicial effect.

F.R.E 703 (emphasis added). The Advisory Committee Note to FRE 703 clearly explains that "[r]ule 703 [was] amended to emphasize that when an expert reasonably relies on inadmissible information to form an opinion or inference, the underlying information is not admissible simply because the opinion or inference is admitted." F.R.E. 703 advisory committee's note.

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