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

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On or about January 12, 2006, a Marshall County Grand Jury indicted Fonshanta Anthony for one count of felony child abuse of Briston Anthony and one county of felony child neglect of Briston Anthony. (C.P. 1) On August 20-22, 2007, Anthony was tried in Marshall County Circuit Court and was convicted of felony child abuse. (C.P. 80) She was sentenced to 20 years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. (C.P. 81) Anthony filed a Motion for New Trial on August 30, 2007. (C.P. 83) The trial court entered an order denying the Motion for New Trial on July 30, 2008. (C.P. 88) The instant appeal ensued.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On July 18, 2005, 9 month old Briston Anthony was badly burned in the bathtub of his family's apartment. The water in the tub was approximately 160 degrees and Briston suffered serious burns over 60% of his body. Briston was in the care of his mother, Fonshanta Anthony,

at the time he was injured. There was another child, age 2, in the household. Anthony was pregnant and unemployed. Chief Clyde Gunter of the Byhalia Police Department testified that he received a call at about 9:26 p.m. that a child had been accidentally burned and went to the Broadmoor Apartments where the Anthonys lived. A crowd of people gathered around and EMS was on the scene with the ambulance. Gunter saw Ms. Anthony with a male relative. (Tr. 99, 111) Gunter learned that the child had been burned in the bathtub and that he was in critical condition. Gunter went to the apartment and observed a cloth in the bathtub that had been used to slow the draining. There were also pieces of the child's skin in the tub where it had been burned off the child. (Tr. 106-07) Gunter checked the hot water tank and found that it was set at about 160 degrees. He went back downstairs to check on the child who had been airlifted to Memphis due to the severity of his burns. He observed the Anthony with the male relative. She was crying and stated, "You know I wouldn't do anything deliberately to hurt my child." (Tr. 110)

Sergeant David Taylor of the Byhalia Police Department testified that he was dispatched to the scene at about 9:29 p.m. He followed the ambulance into the apartment complex. (Tr. 119) He testified that the apartments are only about two blocks from the police department, so they arrived on the scene very quickly after the call came in. (Tr. 120) Anthony was in the parking lot with her uncle over to the side of the crowd and ambulance. The baby was inside Anthony's aunt's apartment. Taylor saw the baby when the paramedics took it from Anthony's aunt. (Tr. 123) He stated that skin was falling from the child. (Tr. 124) The child was alert, screaming, and obviously in pain. (Tr. 126) Taylor cleared a place for the helicopter to land to transport the child to Memphis. He went into the apartment and noticed skin in the drained tub.

(Tr. 127) Taylor testified that Anthony expressed interest in seeing her baby only after the police and paramedics had arrived. (Tr. 134) While on the scene, Taylor took a statement from the apartment manager, Sheila Lawrence, and another statement from neighbor Cassandra Watkins. (Tr. 130)

Sandra Watkins testified that she also lived in an upstairs apartment. She testified that Anthony beat on her door and asked Watkins to call 911 for the baby. Watkins asked her what happened, and Anthony replied that her oldest son, age 2, had turned the hot water on her baby. Watkins then called 911. Anthony also asked Watkins to call her father. Watkins then went downstairs to Anthony's aunt's apartment to find Anthony's father. (Tr. 136) She then went to tell Anthony and found Anthony on the phone, both she and the baby screaming. (Tr. 136)

Watkins testified that earlier in the evening she had seen Watkins carrying trash to the dumpsters. (Tr. 138) About 15 to 30 minutes after that, Anthony banged on her door and asked her to call 911. She testified that Anthony attempted to hand her the baby, but that she jumped back said "No" and then went to call 911 for Anthony. (Tr. 139) She said that the baby was screaming and his skin was coming off and that it hit floor and then he started bleeding. (Tr. 140) "His skin was coming steadily off, falling and bleeding." (Tr. 141)

Sheila Lawrence testified that she was the manager of the Broadmoor Apartments where the Anthonys lived. (Tr. 142) At about 9:05, Lawrence was out on her balcony and saw Anthony out by the dumpster sweeping up her garbage. Anthony said something like "Don't write me up." (Tr. 143, 146) In about 10 minutes, a police officer came to her door and told her that Anthony's baby had been burned. (Tr. 143) When they got to Anthony's apartment, Anthony had the baby in her arms, rubbing him, and Lawrence told her not to because the baby's

skin was peeling off. They put the baby on a clean white sheet until the paramedics arrived. The baby was crying loudly and constantly and Lawrence could tell he was in pain. (Tr. 144)

Chris Sowell testified that he was an officer with the Byhalia Police Department at the time Briston Anthony was burned. He responded to a call to the Broadmoor Apartments for a baby who had been burned in the bathtub. (Tr. 159) He was at the scene within a minute or two of receiving the call. He observed a woman with a baby and the paramedics went in and were handed the baby and began working on him. Sowell was trying to secure the area since a crowd had gathered. (Tr. 159) Sowell did go to the Anthony's apartment and observed the drained tub with pieces of skin in the tub. (Tr. 160) Sowell was instructed to go to Le Bonheur Hospital in Memphis where Briston was being transported and to get a further statement from Anthony. (Tr. 162) Anthony gave Sowell a statement that she started to run the bath water. She stated that after she finished running the water, she put her two year old in the tub and took the garbage outside the door. She then went back inside and put Briston in the tub. She then went back to the bed room to find some clothes for the children. She stated that was when she heard the water come on. She stated that she hollered and told her two-year-old to cut off the water. She stated that the two-year-old cried out, "Mama, Mama. Briston boo booed in the tub." She stated that she ran to see what happed and she looked down and saw her baby's skin floating around in the tub. She got him and went next door and called 911. (Tr. 165)

Patricia Amosika testified that she works for the Marshall County DHS Child Protection Office. (Tr. 171) Amosika received the call on July 19, 2005 that Briston had been burned. The case was assigned to Amosika, but shortly afterward, Briston was transferred to Texas since the burns were so severe that Le Bonheur could not handle the case. (Tr. 172)

Amosika testified that she spoke to Anthony who told her that she had run hot water in the tub and placed her two year old in the tub. (Tr. 172) Anthony stated that she went to go throw away the garbage and when she came back she placed Briston in the tub. Anthony stated to Amosika that she went to the bedroom to get their clothes and when she was in the bedroom she heard water running. She yelled at the two year old to turn off the water, but when she went into the bathroom the water was still on. The two year old was screaming "Baby boo booed in the tub." Anthony stated that she saw things floating in the tub and thought it was blood until she saw that the baby's body was pink. She stated that she grabbed the baby and went to the neighbor's apartment for help. (Tr. 173) Because Anthony stated that the two year old was in the tub at the time Briston was burned, Amosike then went to Byhalia to examine the two year old who was staying with Anthony's aunt. She examined the two year old carefully and found no wounds. (Tr. 174)

Cynthia Bowen testified that Briston Anthony is her foster child. He was burnt over 60 percent of his body. He was almost 3 at the time of trial and has great difficulty walking. (Tr. 180) He will continue to have surgeries for the rest of his life. Through puberty, he will have to have surgery with each growth spurt to release the scar tissue since the skin grafts he has received will not stretch. (Tr. 180) Dr. Art Sanford testified as an expert in the field of general surgery including burn injuries and pediatric burns and related fields. (Tr. 196) Dr. Sanford testified that Briston's burns appeared to be intentionally inflicted because of the straight line demarcation on his abdomen. He stated the burns were consistent with a child being held in the water in a sitting position, with patterns appearing where the skin was folded around the wrists and groin. (Tr. 202) He testified that the lack of splash marks and the straight line demarcation of the burn were

evidence of a forced immersion, since a 9 month old baby would be flailing in response to the painful stimuli. (Tr. 202) He further testified that if the hot water had been turned on while the child was already in a tub of temperate water, there would be varying degrees of burns on the child's body. (Tr. 202)

Dr. Sanford testified that the description Ms. Anthony gave of the events wherein the two-year-old was in the tub with Briston at the time the water was turned on was not consistent with the injuries Briston received. (Tr. 205, State's Exhibit 12) He testified that if another child had been in the tub with Briston, that child would have received burns as well. (Tr. 206) He testified that under those circumstances Briston would have been thrashing and flailing and attempting to get away from the painful stimulus.

Dr. Sanford testified that the following indicators of intentional immersion burn were present: symmetrical mirror image burns of the extremities, minimal splash marks, uniform depth, a clear line of demarcation or crisp margin, donut shaped scars on the buttocks. (Tr. 210) An accidental burn would result in variable depth and variable position burns. (Tr. 211) The burns on Briston's arms and legs were symmetrical, there were minimal splash marks, there was uniform depth of the burns on his lower extremities, indicating that all immersed areas were exposed to the same amount of water at the same temperature. (Tr. 213) The donut shaped scars on the buttocks are an indication that the child's bottom was pressed against the bottom of the tub so that circular areas of the buttocks were not exposed to the hot water for the same length of time as the rest of the burned area. (Tr. 213) "Zebra stripes" on Briston's wrists and groin area indicate that Briston was forcibly held in the water so that the folds of skin prevented stripes of skin in those areas from getting burned. (Tr. 213-14)

Dr. Sanford also testified that it was unlikely that a sibling could be in the tub with Briston and not be burned as well. He testified that it would be hard for a two year old to have the fine motor coordination to turn on the water or change the water on a tap. (Tr. 214) Dr. Sanford testified that scald burns in general are indicative of intentional injury. (Tr. 215) Dr. Sanford noted that the mother's change in story was a further indicating factor for intentional burn injury. (Tr. 215) Attributing actions to a child not old enough to supervise or to reasonably perform the acts attributed to them is an additional indicating factor for intentional burn injury. (Tr. 215) Further, there was a history of stress and interrupted care due to the father's absence that was a further indicator of intentional injury, as well as inappropriate safety expectations such as leaving a nine month old child alone in a tub. (Tr. 216) Additional indicators of possible intentional injury were lack of external support, lack of financial self-sufficiency, unemployment and acute family stressors including two children under two and another expected. (Tr. 217) Dr. Sanford testified that ultimately, the burns were so severe that Briston could not grow skin back on 50% of his body. (Tr. 226)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court did not abuse it's discretion in admitting Exhibit S-12, Abuse/Neglect Risk Factor Assessment, as an exception to the general rule against hearsay. The Abuse/Neglect Risk Factor Assessment was admissible as an exception to the rule against hearsay under the business records exception. The testimony of Dr. Sanford established that the assessment is a regularly kept business record, it is a written document that was made at the time the assessment was conducted and it was the regular practice of the hospital to make Abuse/Neglect Risk Assessments. Further, Dr. Sanford is an individual with knowledge who is acting in the course

and scope of the regularly conducted activity. Anthony is procedurally barred from raising an objection to the Abuse/Neglect Risk Factor Assessment pursuant to Mississippi Rules of Evidence 703 or 702 as no argument was made at trial or in any post-trial motion that the report was inadmissible pursuant to those rules.

The verdict not against overwhelming weight of the evidence and the evidence was sufficient to support the jury's verdict. The issues presented by the Appellant are without merit and the jury's verdict and the rulings of the trial court should be affirmed.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

I. The trial court did not abuse it's discretion in admitting Exhibit S-12, Abuse/Neglect Risk Factor Assessment, as an exception to the general rule against hearsay.

Mississippi appellate courts will reverse a trial court's admission of evidence only when the trial court abuses its discretion. *Cox v. State*, 849 So.2d 1257, 1268 (Miss.2003). "A trial judge enjoys a great deal of discretion as to the relevancy and admissibility of evidence. Unless the judge abuses this discretion so as to be prejudicial to the accused, the Court will not reverse this ruling." *Fisher v. State*, 690 So.2d 268, 274 (Miss.1996) (citing *Shearer v. State*, 423 So.2d 824, 826 (Miss.1982)). Further, "[a]s long as the trial court remains within the confines of the Mississippi Rules of Evidence, its decision to admit or exclude evidence will be accorded a high degree of deference." Ellis v. State, 856 So.2d 561, 565 (Miss.Ct.App.2003) (citation omitted).

A. The Abuse/Neglect Risk Factor Assessment was admissible as an exception to the rule against hearsay.

During the direct examination of Dr. Art Sanford, the prosecution introduced the "Abuse/Neglect Risk Factor Assessment". Dr. Stanford testified that he was familiar with the document and that is was prepared at Shriner's Hospital during the care and treatment of Briston.

(Tr. 202-03) It was prepared pursuant to Texas law which requires any adult to report suspicious injuries of a child to Child Protective Services. (Tr. 203) Dr. Stanford testified that it was the responsibility of the physician to prepare the form when faced with a suspicious injury. The form was signed by Shriner's Hospital employees Andy Brookover and Dr. Rosenberg, a psychologist. (Tr. 203-04) The risk assessment was completed during the care of Briston Anthony. Dr. Sanford stated that he would also have participated in the preparation of the document. (Tr. 204) Fonshanta Anthony's attorney objected to the admission of the "Abuse/Neglect Risk Factor Assessment", arguing that it was an out of court statement by Rosenberg who was not present and available for cross-examination. (Tr. 204) Upon inquiry by the trial judge, Dr. Sanford testified that the document was a regularly kept record for the treatment of the patient. (Tr. 204)

B. Appellant is procedurally barred from raising an objection to the Abuse/Neglect Risk Factor Assessment pursuant to Mississippi Rules of Evidence 703 or 702 as no argument was made at trial or in any post-trial motion that the report was inadmissible pursuant to those rules.

The Appellant goes beyond the original objection at trial, which was an objection to hearsay, and therefore this issue is procedurally barred. The trial court was never given the opportunity to pass on the admissibility of the Abuse/Neglect Risk Factor Assessment pursuant to the provisions of Mississippi Rules of Evidence 702 and 703 which govern the admissibility of expert opinion testimony and the qualifications to give expert testimony.

In Haley v. State, 864 So.2d 1022, 1024 (Miss.Ct.App.2004), the Mississippi Court of Appeals held that:

[A]n appellate court will not consider or review issues that were not raised in the trial court. *Crenshaw v. State*, 520 So.2d 131, 134 (Miss.1988). A defendant is procedurally barred from raising an objection on appeal that is different than that raised at trial. *Jones*

v. State, 606 So.2d 1051, 1058 (Miss.1992). A trial judge cannot be put in error on a matter which was not presented to him for decision. Logan v. State, 773 So.2d 338, 346 (Miss.2000).

Therefore, this issue may not be raised for the first time on appeal.

C. The Abuse/Neglect Risk Factor Assessment is admissible under the business records exception contained in Mississippi Rules of Evidence 803(6).

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